

Improving Federal Accountability for Higher Education

Principles for better oversight of the federal student aid programs

By Ben Miller October 2017



Improving Federal Accountability for Higher Education

Principles for better oversight of the federal student aid programs

By Ben Miller October 2017

Contents

1 Introduction and summary

7 Taking stock of existing federal accountability

- 7 Gatekeeping accountability requirements
- 10 Ongoing monitoring requirements
- 16 Post-school outcomes measures

21 The effectiveness of federal accountability

- 22 Punitive effectiveness
- 25 Curative effectiveness
- 26 Effectiveness is not static

27 7 principles for improving accountability

- 28 Principle 1: Target accountability to the most concerning problems
- 30 Principle 2: Recognize the different roles of gatekeeping, ongoing monitoring, and outcomes accountability
- 33 Principle 3: Encourage improvement
- 35 Principle 4: Use flexible, enforceable consequences
- 36 Principle 5: Align consequences with accountability measures
- 37 Principle 6: Provide rewards and consequences
- 38 Principle 7: Differentiate accountability

41 Conclusion

42 About the authors and acknowledgments

43 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

In 2008, Congress passed its most ambitious effort in a decade to boost scrutiny of colleges that leave students struggling with debt. It toughened standards that remove institutions of higher education from participating in the federal student aid programs if too many of their borrowers default after leaving school. In particular, it extended the amount of time for tracking loan outcomes to three years instead of two—a more difficult test, since it required institutions to keep borrowers out of default for longer. The new provision, which survived fierce lobbying battles, was the signature accountability change in a 1,158-page bill reauthorizing the Higher Education Act of 1965—the culmination of seven years of work.

The new provision did not take full effect for another six years. By the time it did in 2014, only 21 out of the more than 6,000 schools in the federal aid programs had too many borrowers default on their loans.³ Of those with excessive default rates, 13 schools appear to still be in the federal financial aid programs today.⁴

The story of three-year student default rates is a microcosm of the issues surrounding federal higher education accountability. Policymakers expended substantial time and political capital to get the measure included in draft Higher Education Act bills. However, fierce lobbying from special interests watered down the measure before it became law.⁵ And when it finally went into effect, the U.S. Department of Education made technical tweaks to further reduce the number of schools that might fail to avoid potential political backlash.⁶ The result is a major accountability change that did nothing more than put a handful of beauty schools out of business.

A decade later, the same discussions around higher education accountability are back on the table. Student loan struggles persist, and many existing measures intended to raise red flags can be manipulated and fail to catch all the problems.⁷ Fortunately, Congress is again working on another reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, which means that now is the time for a national conversation about changes or new forms of accountability.

Getting federal accountability right matters a great deal. When higher education pays off—and it typically does—it can be a launching pad for lifetime economic, social, and personal success. This is why the federal government sends out around \$125 billion in federal financial aid to institutions of higher education to help students access and afford postsecondary opportunities.8 But when higher education does not pay off, the effects can be damaging and persist for years. Students in these situations can find themselves mired in debt. Students who drop out also face poor employment prospects.9

This report takes a closer look at the Department of Education's federal accountability structures concerning financial aid and discusses the efficacy of these efforts. These structures ensure that students use their aid money at high-quality institutions that provide valuable opportunities. The report also lays out a set of principles for improving future accountability efforts.

To keep this effort manageable, this report does not consider other key parts of the financial aid accountability system—states and nonprofit accreditation agencies that combine with the federal government to constitute what is known as the triad of oversight. Nor does it consider other important rules and regulations outside of the Department of Education, such as requirements concerning nondiscrimination, accessibility for individuals with disabilities, or labor practices or rules governing nonprofit organizations from the Internal Revenue Service.

Overall, this report finds that any effectiveness of federal accountability concerning financial aid likely occurs through deterring rather than penalizing unwanted behavior, because existing tools are ineffective for sanctioning institutions after they have demonstrated worrisome outcomes. For instance, the parts of the accountability system that require institutions to meet numerical targets—such as cohort default rates—have negative consequences for only a tiny number of schools and just a small fraction of federal aid dollars. In the most recent year of data, just 252 schools of the more than 6,000 higher education institutions in the federal student aid programs failed one of the three main quantitative standards measuring student loan default, financial health, or the share of revenue that for-profit colleges receive from the Department of Education. In total, these 252 schools received \$1.7 billion in the 2015-16 academic year—just over 1 percent of all federal financial aid dollars. 10 And the actual amount of federal aid truly at risk for these colleges is even lower, because schools must fail measures multiple times consecutively before they lose access to federal aid programs.

To be fair, the fact that few institutions face consequences from federal accountability does not necessarily indicate that existing measures are completely ineffective. It is entirely possible that some measures may create sufficient incentives to discourage unwanted behavior. In other words, even though few institutions have default rates high enough to trigger sanctions, a larger number of schools may work to prevent default among their borrowers to avoid potential problems. Unfortunately, there is no precise way to calculate the extent to which current federal accountability measures have any sort of preventative effect.

Federal accountability measures that do not rely on clear numerical targets have a similar dynamic of sanctioning relatively few schools with unknown preventative effects. Many of these accountability initiatives, such as annual compliance audits of colleges, focus on a set of technical questions related to institutional finances and compliance with laws and regulations regarding the handling of federal aid dollars. While it is valuable to guarantee that federal financial aid dollars are spent properly, this myopic focus on procedural details may sometimes miss larger signs of concern.

Finally, this report finds that existing accountability measures and structures overlook the most worrisome problems facing higher education today. For instance, no part of the federal system currently addresses issues directly related to equity. Though this term can encompass a range of issues, in this instance it refers to two key problems—gaps by race and socio-economic status and the interaction between federal, state, and institutional money. Federal accountability does not try to address disparities by race and income that persist in the postsecondary education system today. Currently, students of color are 20 percentage points less likely to finish college than their white peers. 11 They are also more likely to take on higher levels of debt, to need remediation, or to face other challenges that reduce the odds of finishing college. 12 The students of color who do graduate find themselves starting out behind their more affluent peers in building wealth and accessing the middle class.¹³

Federal accountability also does not consider how federal financial aid dollars interact with other sources of college support. Unlike in the K-12 education sector, federal postsecondary accountability contains no checks to prevent states and institutions from using federal financial aid money as an opportunity to spend less of their own resources on low-income students. The absence of such federal requirements makes it easier for states to cut their own funding for higher education. It also allows institutions that have their own financial aid programs to put those dollars toward attracting students who are less in need of support—reinforcing the inequity in America's educational system.

Overall rates of completion are also ignored by current accountability systems. Just 55 percent of students who enter higher education will earn a degree six years later. It Students who drop out, particularly those with debt, face worse economic outcomes and are more likely to default on their loans. It is yet no part of the federal accountability process touches on this issue. Failing to have any accountability around college completion is like establishing an airplane safety regime that never tracks whether planes land.

Fortunately, the problems identified in this report can be fixed through a thoughtful reimagining of federal accountability. This approach requires refocusing accountability efforts on acute problems while encouraging quality improvements for students across all institutions, not just the lowest-performing ones. There is also no single path to achieve these aims. Different combinations of accountability metrics, monitoring processes, and upfront protections can push the accountability system toward these goals. Therefore, it is crucial that any concrete proposals receive significant debate through the legislative process.

For these reasons, instead of outlining specific measures and metrics to adopt for improving accountability, this report suggests seven principles to guide any redesign of the accountability system. These suggestions are not intended to work as isolated efforts. Increasing flexibility in one area—such as rethinking the link between student loan default rates and Pell Grant eligibility—should not be adopted without addressing other principles, such as the need to hold institutions accountable for degree completion. These seven principles are:

- 1. Target accountability to the most concerning problems.
- 2. Recognize the different roles of gatekeeping, ongoing monitoring, and outcomes accountability.
- 3. Encourage improvement.
- 4. Use flexible, enforceable consequences.

Failing to have any accountability around college completion is like establishing an airplane safety regime that never tracks whether planes land.

- 5. Align consequences with accountability measures.
- 6. Provide rewards and consequences.
- 7. Differentiate accountability.

Adopting these principles would reorient today's system of federal accountability for financial aid toward one that is better geared to tackle the most pressing issues challenging postsecondary education today. They place stronger emphasis on flexible consequences and the need for overall improvement, not just targeting the worst of the worst. An approach based on these seven principles would also reduce the focus on less important technical matters. The end result would be a postsecondary system better equipped to ensure that all students who enroll—regardless of background—receive a credential that sets them up for lifelong success.

Defining accountability

For the purposes of this report, accountability means any U.S. Department of Education statutory or regulatory requirement that puts an institution's ability to receive federal financial aid at risk due to its performance in areas directly related to student learning, loan outcomes, institutional finances, or other matters related to the purpose and use of these funds. For example, cohort default rates are an accountability requirement, because an institution must keep the percentage of its borrowers who default on their loans within three years of leaving school below certain benchmarks. The institution's performance on that measure thus directly affects its ability to receive federal financial aid.

This definition of course fails to capture a substantial number of other valuable accountability efforts. The most obvious is the work done by states and nonprofit accreditation agencies. The U.S. system of higher education oversight rests on a concept known as the triad. The idea is that the federal government, states, and accreditors work together to ensure quality at postsecondary institutions. In theory,

the triad provides a way to divide up accountability work based on who is best suited to look at certain elements of a postsecondary institution. For instance, accreditation agencies inarguably are the part of the triad that must look at educational practices across all types of institutions. The federal government is not equipped to do this in any capacity, while state activity around learning varies and often focuses only on public institutions.

Limiting the report's focus to the Department of Education's work around financial aid also excludes other important federal oversight activities. Some of these are requirements that apply to basically all types of businesses or organizations. This includes rules pertaining to discrimination, accessibility, labor practices, and similar activities. It also excludes issues more unique to colleges, such as research practices or receipt of foreign gifts. Additionally, this focus does not tackle requirements around campus crime and fire safety. These issues are important but are not directly related to practices that affect financial aid.

TABLE 1 U.S. Department of Education accountability measures pertaining to federal financial aid

Name	Description	Authorization	Types of institutions subject to this measure	Sanction trigger	Number of recently affected institutions
		G	atekeeping requirements		
Withdrawal rates	Share of students who drop out from an institution during the year	Regulatory	First-time entrants	Higher than a 33 percent rate for most recent year	Unknown
Accreditation	Third-party review to ensure that institutions are of sufficient quality, especially with respect to academics	Statutory	All institutions	Varies by accreditor	36 institutions had accreditation denied or terminated. Another 163 faced serious sanctions, such as probation or show cause.
		Ongo	ing monitoring requireme	nts	
Financial responsibility scores	A composite score that runs from -1.0 to 3.0 and looks at financial reserves, equity, and net income	Regulatory	Private nonprofit and for-profit institutions	Lower than 1.0	187 institutions had failing scores.
90/10 rates	Private for-profit colleges cannot receive more than 90 percent of their revenue from the Department of Education.	Statutory	Private for-profit institutions	Less than 10 percent of revenue from outside Department of Education	17 institutions did not meet the 10 percent revenue target.
Program reviews	Department of Education reviews of institutional compliance with federal aid rules	Statutory	All institutions	N/A	A few hundred conducted each year, about half of which have no problems
Financial and compliance audits	Independent review of institu- tional finances; audits of for-profit colleges also look at compliance with federal aid rules.	Statutory	Financial: all institutions; compliance: private for-profit institutions	N/A	Unknown
		Post	-school outcomes measure	25	
Cohort default rates	Share of borrowers who default on their loans within three years of entering repayment	Statutory; one-year cutoff is regulatory.	All institutions in federal loan program	Higher than 30 percent for three consecutive years or higher than 40 percent for one year	10 institutions failed: five failed the 30 percent benchmark, four failed the 40 percent benchmark, and one failed both benchmarks.
Gainful employment	Judges career training programs based on how much of graduates' income goes to student loan payments; programs must meet standards for debt as share of annual earnings and discretionary income—earnings minus allowances for necessities.	Regulatory	All programs at private for-profit colleges; nondegree programs at public and private nonprofit institutions	Fail: Annual debt is more than 12 percent of earnings and 30 percent of discre- tionary earnings. Zone: Not failing, but annual earnings are more than 8 percent and discretionary earnings are more than 20 percent.	2,042 programs at 777 institutions, including 803 failing programs at 293 schools and 1,239 zone programs at 653 schools

Notes: Cohort default rate data is for the fiscal year 2014 cohort. Financial responsibility and 90/10 scores are for the 2014-15 award year. Accreditation results are since 2014.

Sources: Office of Federal Student Aid, "Financial Responsibility Composite Scores," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/composite-scores (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Proprietary School 90/10 Revenue Percentages," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/proprietary (last accessed September 2017); Robert Shireman, Elizabeth Baylor, and Ben Miller, "Looking in All the Wrong Places: How the Monitoring of Colleges Misses What Matters Most," Center for American Progress, April 12, 2016, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/ reports/2016/04/12/133263/looking-in-all-the-wrong-places/; Office of Federal Student Aid, "Official Cohort Default Rates for Schools," available at https://www2.ed.gov/offices/OSFAP/defaultmanagement/cdr.html (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Gainful Employment Information," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/ge (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postecondary Education, "Download Accreditation Data Files," available at https://ope.ed.gov/accreditation/GetDownLoadFile.aspx (last accessed October 2017).

Taking stock of existing federal accountability

This section reviews the accountability mechanisms currently in effect, broken down by whether they are gatekeeping, ongoing monitoring, or outcomes-based. It also highlights key strengths, weaknesses, and ongoing policy debates.

Gatekeeping accountability requirements

Gatekeeping requirements are processes required of institutions of higher education that wish to join the federal financial aid programs, including accreditation and withdrawal rates.

Accreditation

- What is it? Accreditation is a third-party review process in which an independent agency looks at an institution of higher education to ensure it is of sufficiently high quality to participate in the federal financial aid programs.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? Accreditation relies on the peer review
 process to ensure that colleges receiving federal financial aid are of sufficient
 quality, particularly with respect to teaching and learning.
- What authorizes it? Sections 101 and 102 of the Higher Education Act require institutions to be accredited in order to receive access to federal financial aid.
- When was it created? Accreditation agencies first began in the late 19th century, but they have been a requirement for receiving federal aid in some form since the Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1952.¹⁶

- What does it measure? Exactly what accreditors look at varies somewhat by agency. Some accreditors that approve colleges across the country require institutions to meet specific benchmarks for completion, retention, placement, student satisfaction, or some combination of these measures. Accreditors that only operate in defined geographic regions do not have bright line benchmarks, though they may ask institutions to report student outcomes data. Beyond clear measures, accreditors will send a team of peer reviewers to visit a college, which includes looking at the qualifications of faculty, sufficiency of facilities, evidence of student learning, and financial health.
- What institutions are subject to it? All institutions that want to receive federal financial aid must be accredited by an agency that is recognized by the Education Department.
- What is the required performance level? Each accreditor sets its own standards. Federal law requires them to have standards in specific areas—such as student achievement—but accreditors determine what constitutes sufficient results in that category. When accreditors decide that an institution does not meet their standards, they can warn a school, place them on an improvement plan, or remove their accreditation. Institutions that lose accreditation cannot access federal financial aid until they obtain approval from an agency again.
- How many institutions does it sanction? According to Department of Education data, 36 colleges had their accreditation denied or terminated from 2014 through April 2017.¹⁷ Another 163 institutions faced some kind of sanction during that time period, including warning, show cause, probation, or others. 18
- What does it do well? Accreditation is the only part of the triad that universally looks at issues around teaching and learning at institutions of all types. Accreditation has strong support from institutions.
- What are the common criticisms of it? Accreditation typically faces two types of critiques: Accreditors do an insufficient job protecting consumers because they rarely shut down poor-performing colleges and/or accreditation is a costly, burdensome process that stifles innovation. 19

Withdrawal rate

- What is it? Withdrawal rate is the measure of how many students who start at a school drop out before the end of the year without graduating.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? It protects against providing federal financial aid to new institutions with high dropout rates.
- What authorizes it? The Department of Education's regulatory interpretation
 of requirements from Section 498 of the Higher Education Act requires an
 institution to demonstrate administrative capability in order to participate in the
 federal financial aid programs.
- When was it created? It was created in a 1994 regulation following a 1992 bill reauthorizing the Higher Education Act.²⁰
- What does it measure? The rate measures the percentage of students who start at a college and officially or unofficially withdraw, are expelled, or receive a 100 percent refund.
- What institutions are subject to it? Only colleges seeking to participate in the federal financial aid programs for the first time must meet certain withdrawal rate benchmarks.
- What is the required performance level? Institutions participating in the federal financial aid programs for the first time must show that their withdrawal rate for the most recently finished school year is no higher than 33 percent.²¹
- **How many institutions does it sanction?** The Department of Education does not publish data on these schools, so this number is unknown.
- What does it do well? There is not enough information about its use to tell, so this information is unknown.
- What are common criticisms of it? This measure has not received much attention, but the Department of Education's inspector general did raise concerns in 2015 about whether the agency had a proper definition for a withdrawal rate.²²

Ongoing monitoring requirements

Ongoing monitoring requirements are processes that institutions of higher education must follow each year once they are in the federal aid programs in order to maintain eligibility. These measures include financial responsibility scores, the 90/10 rule, program reviews, and annual audits.

The 90/10 rule

- What is it? A rule that requires private for-profit colleges to have at least 10 percent of their revenue come from sources other than federal financial aid from the Department of Education.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? This rate is a test of whether private for-profit colleges can demonstrate that their product is good enough to draw private funding and can show that it does not rely entirely on the Department of Education.
- What authorizes it? Section 487 of the Higher Education Act requires private for-profit institutions to meet this revenue test.
- When was it created? As applied to federal financial aid, this requirement started as the 85/15 rule in the 1992 bill reauthorizing the Higher Education Act. In 1998, Congress changed it to 90/10.23 There is a separate 85/15 requirement—based on the share of students, not dollars—used by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) since the 1950s.²⁴
- What does it measure? This requirement measures the percentage of institutional revenue that comes from the Department of Education. The agency uses data from a school's audited financial statement to calculate the 90/10 ratio.
- What institutions are subject to it? All private for-profit colleges that participate in the Education Department's federal financial aid programs.
- What is the required performance level? Institutions that have more than 90 percent of their revenue coming from the Department of Education for two consecutive years lose access to federal financial aid. Schools that violate

this provision for one year become provisionally certified—meaning it can be subject to greater oversight and have its participation in the federal aid programs terminated more easily—for the following two years.²⁵

- How many institutions does it sanction? According to Department of Education data for the 2015 academic year, 17 schools failed to keep their federal financial aid revenue at or below 90 percent. Of those, only two schools had a failing 90/10 rate the year before. Another 292 institutions had between 85 and 90 percent of their revenue come from the Education Department.²⁶ In 2016, the Department of Education released additional data showing that counting benefits from the VA and the Department of Defense (DOD) as federal revenue would cause 190 schools to fail the 90/10 standard.²⁷
- What does it do well? The revenue requirements provide a valuable check on purportedly private institutions operating entirely on federal taxpayer money.
- What are common criticisms of it? The 90/10 rule faces criticism from both consumer protection advocates and institutions. Consumers worry that this measure fails to properly hold colleges accountable for finding private market revenue, because institutions can count federal money from the VA and the DOD toward the 10 percent revenue requirement.²⁸ Institutions, meanwhile, allege that this rule can force colleges to raise prices, although this claim has not been definitively proven.²⁹

Financial and compliance audits

- What is it? These audits are an external review of an institution's finances or compliance with federal aid rules conducted by an independent, private auditor.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? Audits provide independent oversight to discourage colleges from breaking rules around aid awarding, operating in a financially unsustainable manner, or lacking qualified administrators to run the school.
- What authorizes it? Section 487 of the Higher Education Act lays out the ability for the secretary of education to create regulations requiring colleges to submit audits of both an institution's finances and their compliance with federal

financial aid rules.³⁰ Public and nonprofit institutions that already submit audits under other guidance defined elsewhere in federal law can have those documents fulfill this requirement.³¹

- What does it measure? Audits take two main forms depending on the type of school. Compliance audits of for-profit colleges review a random sample of student files to ensure that they comply with financial aid-awarding and eligibility rules. Institutions must correct identified problems. Public and private nonprofit audits are different and more expansive. These schools submit what is known as a single audit that reviews a school's finances and covers all types of federal assistance received.³² For example, an audit from a public college may touch on federal financial aid as well as research dollars received from the National Science Foundation. Financial audits also provide the information used to calculate 90/10 rates and financial responsibility scores.
- What institutions are subject to it? All institutions receiving federal financial aid must submit an audit to the Education Department.
- What is the required performance level? There is no set threshold. Institutions with problematic audit findings may be subject to additional monitoring or compliance work. This can include delays in the disbursement of funds. Private colleges that show a failing financial responsibility score based upon the audit results can also face consequences discussed earlier. Private for-profit colleges whose audits show that they violate the 90/10 rule can also face consequences, as noted earlier. Finally, an audit revealing numerous problems could potentially trigger a program review.
- How many schools does it sanction? It is unclear how often audits cause problems for institutions of higher education. According to Education Department data, 29 schools had letters of credit on hand in the 2015 academic year due to missing audits.³³ But there are no data on how many schools have problems with audits that require policy changes or must return federal money.
- What does it do well? Involving auditors provides an independent check on information reported by institutions, increasing confidence in data accuracy. In addition, auditors likely have greater financial expertise than most oversight staff within the Education Department.

• What are the common criticisms of it? A Center for American Progress investigation found that audits often fail to document compliance with bigger picture concerns, such as whether a school follows rules about how to properly compensate recruiters.34

Financial responsibility score

- What is it? This is a composite score that attempts to measure the financial health of private nonprofit and for-profit institutions based upon information filed in annual financial audits.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? Financial responsibility scores try to identify private colleges that might suddenly close by keeping an eye on a school's financial health.
- What authorizes it? The Department of Education's regulatory interpretation of requirements from Section 498 of the Higher Education Act states that an institution must demonstrate financial responsibility in order to participate in the federal financial aid programs.
- When was it created? Congress included language in the 1992 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act that was later used to create financial responsibility scores.³⁵ In 1998, the Education Department first began issuing financial responsibility scores.³⁶
- What does it measure? The financial responsibility score is a composite of three indicators: primary reserves, which examine resources versus expenses; equity, which measures the percentage of assets that a school owns and is a measure of ability to borrow; and net income, which calculates how much revenue a school earns above expenses.³⁷ The exact definition of these measures depends upon whether the private school is nonprofit or for-profit.
- What institutions are subject to it? This score applies to all private nonprofit and for-profit institutions.
- What is the required performance level? Financial responsibility scores range from -1.0 to 3.0. Institutions that score above 1.5 are deemed financially responsible.³⁸ Schools with scores between 1.0 and 1.5 fall into a zone category that

requires additional monitoring. This can include potential delays in the payment of federal aid to students. In addition, these schools must inform the Education Department of any substantial financial changes.

Schools scoring below 1.0 are not financially responsible and have two options to remain in the financial aid programs: Schools can submit a letter of credit equal to half of the federal financial aid received each year; or schools can submit a smaller letter of credit equal to just 10 percent of the federal financial aid received but then become provisionally certified to participate in the aid programs. Provisional certification affords schools fewer due process rights if further problems arise, meaning that the secretary of education may more easily terminate their participation in the federal financial aid programs.

- How many institutions does it sanction? According to Education Department data for the 2014-15 academic year, 187 institutions had a failing financial responsibility score.³⁹ Of these, 65 were nonprofit and 122 were for-profit institutions. Another 139 schools were in the zone, meaning they had a score between 1.0 and 1.5.
- What does it do well? The scores look at important issues, such as whether an institution has enough liquid assets to cover its operating costs, whether an it is sufficiently capitalized, and whether it can operate within its budget.
- What are common criticisms of it? It is not clear whether financial responsibility scores accurately identify colleges that may suddenly close. Some troubled colleges have had failing responsibility scores but never enough to result in their closure or demand substantial letters of credit. 40 On the institutional side, private nonprofit colleges raise concerns about these scores using outdated accounting methodology, among other issues.⁴¹

Program review

- What is it? This is a Department of Education review of an institution's compliance with federal financial aid rules, among other issues.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? A program review typically judges whether institutions of higher education follow technical rules related to the awarding of federal financial aid. For instance, program reviews may check that

financial aid funds are returned when a student drops out, that proper documentation is in place to ensure that a student is eligible for aid, and that necessary student information is verified. Program reviews can also check that other rules are enforced, such as bans on offering compensation incentives to recruit students or complying with crime-reporting requirements.

- What authorizes it? Program review authority originates from Section 498A of the Higher Education Act.
- What does it measure? A program review does not involve set benchmarks and can take multiple forms. The most common iteration involves taking a random sample of roughly 30 student files and checking them to ensure that they meet required financial aid packaging and awarding deadlines, among other requirements. This is a process similar to that used in compliance audits of private for-profit colleges. Program reviews can also take targeted looks at areas such as crime reporting.
- What institutions are subject to it? Any school that receives federal financial aid can be subject to a program review. However, because they are resourceintensive, only a few hundred schools face a review in any given year. Schools are typically selected for review through a risk assessment.
- What is the required performance level? There is no set performance bar. Rather, the number of problems identified in the random sample can trigger further investigation. Two things could happen to schools when program reviews uncover problems: The institution may be forced to pay back some amount of financial aid dollars that reviewers decide were misspent—the payback could either be only the amounts turned up in the random sample or an estimate of the total liability for the problem across the institution—or the institution could be required to change a given practice to avoid problems in the future.
- How many institutions does it sanction? In the 2016 fiscal year, the Education Department published 141 final program review determinations. 42 However, just because an institution has a program review conducted does not mean that problems turned up. A CAP examination of a subset of program reviews conducted over a span of three years found that the majority of schools do not end up with any assessed liability, and only one or two schools received penalties of more than \$1 million.⁴³ The number of program reviews finalized is also not the same as the number initiated in a given year, because some reviews may take a few years to finish.

- What does it do well? In theory, program reviews have a lot of flexibility to tailor reviews based on each institution's problems, allowing investigators to conduct deeper dives in problematic areas. This is also the only area where Education Department staff can regularly take close looks at important operational aspects such as marketing and recruitment.
- What are the common concerns or criticisms of this measure? Institutions often characterize the program review process as slow and burdensome. On the other hand, a CAP investigation into program reviews showed that they often fail to properly consider bigger picture concerns such as admission or marketing practices that demonstrate fraud or misrepresentation.⁴⁴

Post-school outcomes measures

These are measures that require an institution to demonstrate that its students meet certain performance bars. Institutions that fail to meet these performance thresholds risk losing access to federal financial aid. These measures include cohort default rates and gainful employment.

Cohort default rate

- What is it? The cohort default rate is the percentage of student loan borrowers who default within three federal fiscal years of entering repayment.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? Congress created the cohort default rate to shut down institutions of higher education that had too many students defaulting on their loans. The goal was to bring down the national student loan default rate.
- What authorizes it? Section 435 of the Higher Education Act establishes the thresholds for ineligibility if a school's default rate is too high for three consecutive years. The one-year default rate cutoff is a Department of Education regulatory interpretation of a requirement from Section 401 of the Higher Education Act. 45
- When was it created? Congress first established cohort default rates to measure results in the early 1990s. In 2008, Congress changed the cohort default rate definition to measure outcomes after three years in repayment instead of two years.⁴⁶

- What does it measure? The rate measures all student loan borrowers who enter loan repayment in a given federal fiscal year. This includes both graduates and dropouts. Students who borrow an unsubsidized Stafford loan for graduate school are included in the measure, but Grad or Parent PLUS loans are not. In other words, graduate students who default on a Grad PLUS loan but not in his or her Stafford loan are not counted as a defaulter. The same is true of Perkins loans awarded by schools.
- What institutions are subject to it? Cohort default rates apply to all institutions of higher education that participate in the federal student loan programs.
- What is the required performance level? Institutions must keep their default rate under 40 percent in any given year or risk losing access to federal student loans. An institution whose default rate exceeds 30 percent for three consecutive years loses access to federal financial aid. That said, institutions have several options for appealing their default rates. They can show that a low percentage of their students borrow, servicing problems caused the high default rate, or that at least two-thirds of their students are low-income and that it met certain thresholds for job placement rates.
- How many institutions does it sanction? The most recent cohort default rate data for borrowers who entered repayment in the 2014 federal fiscal year show that there are 10 schools that had a rate at or above 30 percent for the past three years or a rate of 40 percent in the most recent year.⁴⁷ One school fell into both categories. In total, these institutions had 1,593 borrowers in repayment and 583 in default. There is no guarantee, however, that these schools will lose access to aid. Three of the 10 institutions with high default rates this year also risked losing access to aid last year.⁴⁸
- What does it do well? The specific focus on default sends an important signal about the need to keep students out of this dire situation. Though few institutions fail this measure, the threat of losing financial aid through this process does spur attempts to keep students from defaulting on loans, at least within the measurement window.
- What are the common criticisms of it? Many elements of the cohort default rate make it a relatively weak measure. First, institutions may be able to keep their default rates artificially low by encouraging borrowers take advantage of repayment options that pause payments for years without defaulting. Doing so

pushes eventual defaults outside the three-year measurement window. Second, the use of these payment-pausing options, in addition to the ability to tie loan payments to a borrower's income, enables many borrowers to avoid default without making any progress paying down their debt. Some institutions with low borrowing rates, meanwhile, complain that cohort default rates mean that a small number of student borrowers could put federal aid at risk for a much larger set of grant recipients.

Gainful employment

- What is it? Gainful employment is a regulation that requires career training programs to ensure that the typical debt levels of their graduates who received federal financial aid do not exceed a certain share of their earnings.
- What problem does it attempt to solve? Gainful employment guards against programs that cause graduates to take on too much debt relative to what those students earn in the workforce.
- What authorizes it? The gainful employment rule is the Department of Education's regulatory interpretation of requirements from Section 102 of the Higher Education Act.
- When was it created? Gainful employment requirements went into effect on July 1, 2015.⁴⁹ A prior version of the regulation was issued, but a judge's 2012 ruling blocked the measure. 50 The Trump administration has essentially paused the data collection and enforcement of the rule.⁵¹
- What does it measure? Gainful employment assesses programs on two debt-toearnings ratios. The annual debt-to-earnings rate compares a program's mean or median earnings to its median annual debt payment. The discretionary debt-toearnings rate adjusts the typical earnings for a program by subtracting 150 percent of the federal poverty level for a single individual—about \$18,090 in 2017. 52 It then compares this amount to the median annual debt payment. This second measure looks at what a borrower can afford after setting aside money for key living expenses such as rent, food, and transportation. For this reason, debt is allowed to make up a higher level of earnings under the discretionary measure.

- What programs and institutions are subject to it? The Higher Education Act defines the types of programs affected by this rule. All nondegree programs that participate in the federal financial aid programs are subject to the gainful employment rule. This includes certificate programs at public and private nonprofit colleges. Degree programs at private for-profit colleges are also subject to the rule.
- What is the required performance level? Programs with an annual debt-toearnings rate at or below 8 percent or a discretionary debt-to-earnings rate at or below 20 percent face no consequences. Programs with an annual debt-to-earnings rate above 12 percent and a discretionary debt-to-earnings rate above 30 percent fail the rule. Programs that fail twice in a three-year period lose access to federal financial aid. Programs that neither pass nor fail—such as having an annual debt-to-earnings rate of 10 percent and a discretionary rate of 25 percent—fall in what is called a "zone." These programs must pass at least once in a four-year period or lose access to federal financial aid.
- How many institutions and programs does it sanction? According to the first round of gainful employment results released in January 2017, 2,042 programs at 777 institutions were either a failing or a zone program. This includes 803 failing programs at 296 institutions and 1,239 zone programs at 653 schools.⁵³
- What does it do well? Placing the focus on a school's individual programs instead of on the overall institution allows for a more targeted accountability approach. It also introduces actual earnings information for the first time in the federal education accountability process.
- What are the common concerns or criticisms of it? There are two major flaws in gainful employment from a consumer perspective. First, the measure only looks at the outcomes of graduates from a program, allowing programs with high dropout rates to potentially still pass. Second, since one gainful employment measure is a simple debt-to-annual earnings comparison, it is possible for programs that cannot produce family sustaining wages for graduates to still pass. Institutions, meanwhile, criticize gainful employment for affecting private for-profit colleges more than other types of institutions and attribute the results observed to the demographics of the students enrolled.

How many institutions come close to facing sanctions?

The use of bright line standards in several accountability measures creates conditions where institutions are close to failing thresholds without facing sanctions. These are institutions where accountability theoretically encourages improvement, since these schools will want to avoid consequences—specifically fines and potentially the loss of access to federal aid.

Table 2 compares how many institutions fail to meet required thresholds for various accountability measures versus how many come close to those benchmarks. The table considers a school "close to failing" if it is within 5 percentage points of the cohort default rate cutoff or the 90/10 ceiling. For financial responsibility scores, it considers schools close to failing if they are within one-half of a point of scoring a 1.0—the threshold where an institution must submit a letter of credit. For accreditation, an institution is close to failing if it faced a serious sanction, such as probation or show cause. The table also considers only one year of performance data for quantitative measures. In reality, most measures require failing for multiple years before the most serious consequences occur.

As the table shows, very few institutions fail these measures. Financial responsibility scores have the largest effect, with 5.5 percent of private colleges producing failing scores. For other measures, there are more schools that just avoid triggering consequences—a result that is at least partly a reflection of the fact that institutions actively manage their performance to avoid sanctions.

TABLE 2 Institutions that fail or are close to failing accountability measures in one year

Accountability measures	Number of institutions with results	Number of institutions failing	Number of institutions close to failing	Share of institutions failing	Share of institutions close to failing			
Controlled by Department of Education								
90/10 rule	1,897	17	292	0.9%	15.4%			
Cohort default rate	4,712	55	173	1.2%	3.7%			
Financial responsibility score	3,374	3,374 187		5.5%	4.1%			
Not controlled by Department of Education								
Accreditation	5,794	36	163	0.6%	2.8%			

Notes: Cohort default rate data is for the fiscal year 2014 cohort. Financial responsibility and 90/10 scores are for the 2014-15 award year. Accreditation results are since 2014. The failing threshold for cohort default rates is: a default rate of higher than 30 percent; for the 90/10 rule: more than 90 percent of revenue coming from the Department of Education; for the financial responsibility score: a score of under 1.0; and for accreditation: termination or denial of accreditation. "Close to failing" means within 5 percentage points of a threshold; one-half of a point of a failing financial responsibility score; or facing an accreditation sanction of probation, show cause, or their equivalent

Sources: CAP analysis of data from Office of Federal Student Aid,"Financial Responsibility Composite Scores," available at https://studentaid. ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/composite-scores (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Proprietary School 90/10 $Revenue\ Percentages, "available\ at\ https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/proprietary\ (last\ accessed\ September\ 2017); Office\ of\ se$ $Federal \ Student \ Aid, "Official \ Cohort \ Default \ Rates for Schools," available at \ https://www2.ed.gov/offices/OSFAP/defaultmanagement/cdr.html$ (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Title IV Program Volume by School," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/ about/data-center/student/title-iv (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download" (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education (last accessed September 2017); U.S. DepartmentAccreditation Data Files," available at https://ope.ed.gov/accreditation/GetDownLoadFile.aspx (last accessed October 2017).

The effectiveness of federal accountability

Evaluating federal accountability processes is a subjective exercise. Differing opinions on what problems need to be solved and what a given measure should be able to accomplish yield very different frameworks for declaring an accountability indicator effective or ineffective.

The cohort default rate measure provides an example of the subjective nature of judging whether an accountability measure works. If the purpose of cohort default rates is bringing down the rate at which borrowers face this horrible consequence, then the measure might be viewed as effective. For instance, the percentage of borrowers defaulting on their loans within three years of leaving school fell for three consecutive years before rising by two-tenths of a percentage point in 2017.54 And institutions clearly work proactively to bring down their default rates.⁵⁵ Similarly, the low number of institutions that face sanctions under this measure might also suggest that cohort default rates do a good job encouraging colleges to better serve borrowers.

An alternative way of judging cohort default rates, however, produces a different assessment. If the cohort default rate measure supposedly encourages colleges to improve student loan repayment, then it appears quite ineffective. Consider the interplay of default and nonrepayment rates—the percentage of undergraduate borrowers who defaulted or have not paid back at least \$1 of their original principal loan balance within three years of entering repayment. Using data from the College Scorecard, CAP compared the change in three-year nonrepayment rates for students entering repayment in 2006 and 2007 with the rates in 2011 and 2012, as well as the change in the two-year cohort default rate over the same time period.⁵⁶ Overall, 360 institutions lowered their cohort default rates. Of these, just 23 also lowered their nonrepayment rates. Meanwhile, over 250 of these institutions had their nonrepayment rates rise by at least 10 percentage points. 57 For example, the now-shuttered Everest College in Reseda, California, saw its two-year default rate nearly halve, going from 15.6 percent to 8.6 percent. At the same time, its nonrepayment rate rose from 52.8 percent to 78.5 percent. 58 It is possible that part of this discrepancy is due to the inclusion of graduate students in the default rate, because they tend to have better loan outcomes than undergraduates. However, the fact that so many institutions could be lowering their default rate while the nonrepayment rate of their students actually rises suggests that common tactics for preventing default do not translate into student loan success.

Politics can also affect efficacy. Institutions of higher education are major employers in districts and carry substantial clout with policymakers at the state and federal level. The result is that when a school faces threats to its federal assistance, it will turn to its elected federal officials, who will pressure the Department of Education or accreditation agency to back down.⁵⁹ Congress will also give into pressure to tweak formulas for accountability metrics so that do not trap too many institutions, or it will create special rules for some types of colleges.⁶⁰ Federal agencies may also self-censor—that is to say, preemptively make changes to accountability processes out of worries of political repercussions if some colleges face challenges.⁶¹

Given the complexity and subjectivity of assessing whether federal accountability works, this report provides two ways of considering the question. One way is punitive: Accountability could work by aggressively capturing many institutions. The other is curative: The possible consequences of accountability measures dissuade unwanted behavior before it occurs or pushes institutions to substantially improve if they initially fail an indicator.

Overall, federal accountability for financial aid comes up short in terms of sanctioning institutions after they demonstrate poor outcomes. Its curative effects, meanwhile, are more difficult to assess given existing data.

Punitive effectiveness

Few schools fail federal accountability measures based on numeric benchmarks, and those that do typically have small enrollments. Monitoring processes such as audits and program reviews focus on narrow technical issues that typically result in small fines. Accreditation, meanwhile, rarely terminates federal aid eligibility for institutions.

Table 3 shows the number of institutions facing a given accountability sanction, as well as the median and total amount of federal financial aid received in the 2015-16 academic year for all schools that fail a given measure. It does not include gainful employment results, since those operate at the programmatic level, and it is unknown how much federal aid a given program received. The institutional counts in this table may also not match figures presented elsewhere in this report because some institutions may have exited the financial aid programs after facing accountability issues in the past.

As the table shows, the three main accountability standards that require institutions to meet some numerical benchmark—cohort default rates, 90/10 rates, and financial responsibility scores—affected just 252 institutions, which received a total of \$1.7 billion in the 2015-16 academic year, or slightly more than 1 percent of all federal student aid funding for that year.⁶² This figure also overstates the potential amount of aid at risk, because institutions have to fail measures multiple times over several years before losing access to these federal aid programs.

The small proportion of federal aid received by institutions that failed these accountability measures further highlights the fact that only small schools get trapped. The median amount of federal aid received by institutions that failed the cohort default rate or 90/10 test was less than \$1 million. By contrast, the median amount of federal aid received by colleges participating in the federal aid programs totals nearly \$4 million a year. 63 Moreover, the 12 colleges that failed the cohort default rate or 90/10 tests enough times to lose access to federal aid in total received just under \$20 million in federal aid.

TABLE 3 Federal financial aid received in the 2015–16 school year by institutions that failed federal accountability measures

Accountability measure failed once	Number of institutions matched to aid data	Median federal financial aid received	Total federal financial aid received					
Controlled by Department of Education								
90/10 rule	16	\$0.3 million	\$47.6 million					
Cohort default rate	55	\$0.9 million	\$266.0 million					
Financial responsibility score	176	\$1.2 million	\$1.4 billion					
Total	240	\$1.1 million	\$1.7 billion					
Not controlled by Department of Education								
Serious accreditation sanction	154	\$1.1 million	\$990.0 million					
All institutions receiving federal student aid	6,097	\$3.8 million	\$124.8 billion					

Notes: Cohort default rate data are for the fiscal year 2014 cohort. Financial responsibility and 90/10 scores are for the 2014-15 award year. Accreditation results are since 2014. The failing threshold for cohort default rates is: a default rate of higher than 30 percent; for the 90/10 rule: more than 90 percent of revenue coming from the Department of Education; and for the financial responsibility score: a score of under 1.0. Serious accreditation sanctions include any institution facing probation, show cause, or an equivalent status.

Sources: CAP analysis of data from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Financial Responsibility Composite Scores," available at https:// studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/composite-scores (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Proprietary School 90/10 Revenue Percentages," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/proprietary (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Official Cohort Default Rates for Schools," available at https://www2.ed.gov/ offices/OSFAP/defaultmanagement/cdr.html (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Title IV Program Volume by School," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/student/title-iv (last accessed September 2017); U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "Download Accreditation Data Files," available at https://ope.ed.gov/accreditation/ GetDownLoadFile.aspx (last accessed October 2017).

Financial responsibility scores, meanwhile, do not appear to capture money from institutions before precipitous closures—one of their main purposes. A recent review by the Government Accountability Office found that only half of institutions that closed during the past several years had a failing financial responsibility score. 64

The seeming ineffectiveness of the financial responsibility score may be a result of its implementation lag time. For example, at small schools, missing enrollment targets could result in a big drop in revenue that could cause a school to close. That revenue drop would be felt in the fall. But financial responsibility scores are calculated from balance sheets at the end of an institution's fiscal year, which often is June 30, before the problem is likely to arise. Nonprofit colleges then have nine months to submit the audit; for-profit colleges have six months. 65 This results in a lag. If an institution experiences an enrollment shortfall in fall 2016, it does not report the financial data capturing that problem to the Department of Education until 2018—at least 18 months after it occurred. 66 Unfortunately, there is no clear way to correct this delay while still relying on audited financial statements because they take time to produce.

Curative effectiveness

It is difficult to judge whether accountability works by dissuading unwanted behavior or encouraging improvement. There are no data on counterfactual situations to determine if a school would have performed worse without the measure. For example, it is entirely possible that accreditation is effective on the front end by denying approval to colleges that would have had abysmal student loan outcomes. But colleges that do not obtain accreditation are not included in any major data collections. These schools also lack any student loan performance information to judge. This means that there is no clean way to tell how well accreditation works in its upfront sorting of colleges.

Similar problems arise with other measures. Cohort default rates, financial responsibility scores, and program reviews have all existed for years—if not decades but data are not good enough to see how schools reacted when these measures were first put into effect. Similarly, data cannot show the path of action an institution took to generate its final result. This makes it difficult to know if performance improved due to preventing problems before they arose or as a result of gaming the measure. For instance, institutions facing high 90/10 rates could bring their figures down in two ways: the right way—reducing prices and recruiting more students willing to pay tuition out of pocket; or the unwanted way—boosting aggressive recruitment of veterans because the financial aid they receive from the VA or DOD counts as nonfederal revenue for this metric. Both approaches would have the same effect on the 90/10 rate even if only one is a desired tactic.

As the newest accountability measure, gainful employment provides arguably the best option for assessing whether federal accountability can encourage improvement. The story here is somewhat positive; the first round of official gainful employment data released in January 2017 showed more than 800 programs failing the measures.⁶⁷ However, because the data reflected the results for students who graduated between July 2010 and July 2012, schools had time to address programs that they thought might fail. As a result, one review of the results found that more than 300 of the failing programs had already closed.⁶⁸ Though some of these were likely due to institutions closing, it does suggest that schools responded to the threat of accountability by taking concrete steps to eliminate problematic programs.

Effectiveness is not static

The constant evolution of higher education institutions and their business models means that the effectiveness of different accountability measures is not static. New indicators may be quite effective at first, only to see institutions shift practices and problems arise in other directions. Cohort default rates encapsulate this issue. This measure had a significant effect when Congress first created them. It closed hundreds of lousy, fly-by-night institutions—most of which were private for-profit schools—in its first few years. ⁶⁹ Then things changed. Instead of small sham schools, many loan problems migrated to the newer, publicly traded for-profit colleges. These institutions were typically not fraudulent in the way schools trapped by the initial default rates were. But some engaged in worrisome practices around recruitment and admission at an unprecedented scale. Default rates, however, have not evolved to capture these problems and now trap very few institutions.

The changing and adapting nature of higher education means accountability cannot stay unchanged for years at a time. Measures must be regularly evaluated to ensure that any change in effectiveness is a result of either shutting down institutions or encouraging improvement—rather than due to loophole exploitation—further reiterating that outcomes-based accountability cannot be the only tactic. Long lags between identifying a problem with an accountability measure and correcting it leave students open to exploitation. Robust upfront and ongoing monitoring must also be key components of any oversight system.

7 principles for improving accountability

The existing system of accountability for federal student aid contains important components, but it also has a number of flaws. Measures may be ineffective as implemented, expend too many resources on one set of issues, or fail to target all the colleges that need improvement.

Addressing these challenges requires starting with a set of principles that guide accountability development. Future legislative process will be more robust if policymakers take a step back to consider the proper goals, purposes, and structures of accountability. This report provides suggestions for how policymakers could make changes that implement each principle.

Overall, this report suggests the following principles:

- 1. Target accountability to the most concerning problems.
- 2. Recognize the different roles for gatekeeping, ongoing monitoring, and outcomes accountability.
- 3. Encourage improvement.
- 4. Use flexible, enforceable consequences.
- 5. Align consequences with accountability measures.
- 6. Provide rewards and consequences.
- 7. Differentiate accountability.

Principle 1: Target accountability to the most concerning problems

An accountability system should create incentives and guardrails that encourage institutions of higher education to tackle the most concerning problems. At its heart, the biggest issue facing higher education today is that its benefits are not equitably distributed. Completing postsecondary education can be a slingshot for economic improvement. College credentials that impart useful knowledge and skills can help students access and succeed in the middle class. A postsecondary degree can improve lifestyles by opening doors to careers that provide access to health insurance and retirement accounts. These careers also can lead to higher wages that translate into the ability to purchase a home or build wealth.

However, low-income students and students of color complete college are much lower rates than their wealthier, white peers. Similarly, traditionally underrepresented students are more likely to attend institutions that have fewer resources to educate them. These individuals must also devote larger shares of their income to pay for college, resulting in both a greater likelihood of borrowing and higher levels of student loan debt. Entering into the workforce with a student loan payment puts these students behind their peers, because money spent on loans cannot go to retirement savings or home purchasing. The combined effect of this inequity is that higher education runs the risk of retrenching inequality rather than lessening it.

This equity problem manifests in several key ways that accountability needs to address. For each of these—detailed below—the issue is not just that the problem exists, but that there are also meaningful gaps between what happens to wealthier white students and their peers who are low-income or students of color.

- Completion rates are too low. Nationally, only about 55 percent of students who enter a postsecondary education program earn a credential within six years.⁷⁰ Moreover, the results are even worse for low-income students, students of color, and students who are older or attend part time.
- Too many students struggle with debt. The majority of student loan borrowers successfully repay their debt. But with more than 40 million Americans holding student debt, even low rates of struggle translate into massive human costs. Nationally, millions of borrowers are in default on more than \$178 billion in

student loans.⁷¹ Another \$49 billion of loans held by the Department of Education are more than 90 days past due. 72 Recent federal data shows distressing gaps in repayment and default between white and black borrowers in particular.⁷³

- Some programs require too much borrowing compared with their payoff. High tuition is not inherently awful. If a program provides an exceptional return, then a higher price may be acceptable, as long as students can finance it and the dollar figure alone does not dissuade underrepresented students from applying. However, there are too many programs—particularly in the career training space and at the graduate level—where the amount students have to borrow is misaligned with earnings potential. Students in these situations are almost certainly going to struggle repaying their debt without turning to parts of the student loan safety net that reduce monthly payments by setting them at a percentage of income.
- Institutions may defraud students and then close with no warning and fail to provide funds to cover loan forgiveness costs. Several times in the past few years, massive institutions of higher education—facing concerns about their practices—closed instead of complying with substantial government fines or conditions on operating. In some cases, these schools did have small letters of credit on hold with the Education Department, but the amounts involved represented a small fraction of the total amount of financial aid received by those institutions over multiple years. This failure to both monitor institutions' finances and hold them monetarily accountable for bad behavior results in college leaders transferring the costs of fraud to the federal government.
- State and institutional spending on education and financial aid may be inequitable. Recent research from Harvard University shows the important nexus between the amount spent educating students and college completion rates.⁷⁴ Yet nationally, prestigious institutions spend more per student than less selective schools, which educate more students of color or lowerincome students.75

Financial aid practices can also create equity concerns related to what students must pay for college. Some states and institutions have financial aid programs that direct greater resources to students who lack financial need.⁷⁶ The result is that lower-income students may face unaffordable price levels that must be met through substantial student loan borrowing.

Guidance for policymakers to implement this principle

Achieving the aims of the federal financial aid programs in the 21st century requires adopting a broader vision of equity and completion—not just access. This is admittedly a shift from the initial conceptions of the federal student aid programs. From their start, federal aid for college has emphasized access and extending opportunity to underrepresented populations without any discussion of these other issues. However, it is clear that achieving the overall goals of federal financial aid can no longer be met by just looking at whether students enroll in postsecondary education.

The first step in adopting a broader mindset around the role of accountability and federal aid is for policymakers to identify which of the areas listed above are not addressed at all. For instance, there are currently no federal standards related to completion or concerns about equity. In other cases, policymakers need to review whether measures that might address an existing problem are actually effective. For instance, cohort default rates may no longer be as well-suited to capturing the full suite of student loan struggles, and there may also be a need to judge institutions based upon loan repayment rates.

Principle 2: Recognize the different roles of gatekeeping, ongoing monitoring, and outcomes accountability

Saying oversight should focus exclusively on outcomes is a powerful messaging strategy. Unquestionably, the federal government should have more and better measures that look at the outcomes of students after they leave higher education. But better outcomes measurement cannot fully replace upfront accountability structures and ongoing monitoring. Outcomes will always take time to calculate, creating a lag before worrisome institutions are caught. The substantial due process rights afforded to institutions also means that even seemingly clear-cut cases of unwanted behavior can be litigated and appealed for years—requiring substantial use of limited government resources. Stronger upfront and ongoing accountability may also allow for greater flexibility and creativity in judging outcomes and attaching consequences, because these processes can root out the worst schools before they access substantial amounts of federal financial aid.

Better outcomes measurement cannot fully replace upfront accountability structures and ongoing monitoring.

Gatekeeping accountability: Prevention

Once a school is approved for federal student aid, it receives access to the full suite of student-based loans and grants. There is effectively no cap on how much money an institution can receive—the only factor limiting federal revenue is the number of students a school can attract. This means gatekeeping accountability must be effective in rooting out educational providers that already have red flags, such as by denying federal aid access to institutions that seem financially unstable. Rejecting business models that are unclear, have a leadership structure that seems underqualified, or other issues is another example.

If the gatekeeping accountability process breaks down, the rest of the system will spend too much time trying to terminate aid eligibility for institutions that never should have been admitted in the first place. Removal requires large amounts of resources, because institutions in the federal aid programs have extensive due process rights and there is a strong bias toward avoiding actions that could create student disruption. It also means that countless students will be harmed and federal resources wasted in the interim—from the time a unfit college first gets access to aid and until when it ultimately loses that funding.

Ongoing monitoring: Discourage unwanted changes

Ongoing monitoring addresses the reality that some institutions deteriorate. A school's leadership or ownership can change. Colleges that were well-run and adequately served students for years can become predatory institutions in a matter of months.

Arguably, lapses in real-time monitoring are most to blame for the highest-profile failures in higher education over the past few years. The story of Corinthian Colleges is particularly instructive of what can happen when ownership changes. Corinthian grew substantially in the 2000s through acquisitions. 77 In 2009, it paid nearly \$400 million for Heald Colleges—a West Coast chain of schools that had existed for decades. 78 At the time of the sale, Heald's outcomes appeared to be much stronger than those at Corinthian schools.⁷⁹ But it turned out that under new leadership, Heald started conducting problematic practices related to changing grades and misrepresenting placement rates.80

Arguably, lapses in real-time monitoring are most to blame for the highest-profile failures in higher education over the past few years.

In other cases, a small and innocuous nonprofit can mushroom into something much bigger and more troubling. For instance, in 2005, Bridgepoint Education purchased a small nonprofit Catholic college in Iowa known at the time as the Franciscan University of Prairies. 81 The company changed the school's name to Ashford University and created a massive online division. A decade later, Bridgepoint closed the brick-and-mortar campus. 82 After the acquisition, Ashford and Bridgepoint faced a host of investigations and lawsuits, though Bridgepoint has never admitted to wrongdoing and to this day denies all allegations. In 2014, it settled with the Iowa attorney general for \$7.25 million over allegations about questionable recruitment practices. Then, in 2016, Bridgepoint forgave \$24 million in private student loans to settle a lawsuit brought by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau that alleged deceptive marketing. The same year, the U.S. Department of Justice also launched a probe into whether the company violated the 90/10 rule.83

Insufficient review of colleges that change ownership after they have already been approved for federal financial aid will continue to be a huge issue. In the last two years, a group of investors who had never run a college purchased the University of Phoenix, the largest for-profit college, and privatized it.84 Similarly, the Education Management Corporation, which enrolls approximately 65,000 students, announced plans in March to sell itself to a small California nonprofit that had no experience running schools.⁸⁵ Then, in April, the 32,000-student Kaplan University announced a deal to sell itself to Purdue University.86

The ongoing trend of private for-profit colleges attempting to become nonprofits presents a similar set of issues. In several cases, school leaders used creative interpretations of bedrock aspects of nonprofit management, such as having an independent board of directors and restricting owners from enriching themselves.⁸⁷ For example, in 2016, the Department of Education denied an attempt by the Center for Excellence in Higher Education to be treated as a nonprofit institution. It noted that the former owner of the chain of schools was still directly profiting from tuition revenue, something regulations prohibit.88 The company objected to this finding and is currently engaged in litigation with the Education Department.⁸⁹

Real-time monitoring still serves a purpose even when colleges do not change hands. It can act as the proverbial canary in the coal mine, identifying future issues, as well as dissuading unwanted behavior. Shaky finances, for instance, might lead to sacrifices in program quality or raise the possibility of sudden closure. Failing to properly account for federal money can be an indicator of potential

fraud, while high dropout rates could suggest future loan struggles. These are all worthwhile issues that cannot be addressed only with gatekeeping or outcomesbased accountability.

Outcomes accountability: Independent checks once students leave school

Examining the outcomes of a school's former students provides an independent assessment of that institution's results and ensures that it cannot hide all its problems. For example, an institution might have a high graduation rate in its certificate program because the program lacks rigor. That problem might then appear in the form of high default rates or low job placement rates.

Guidance for policymakers to implement this principle

Policymakers need to better differentiate the roles of upfront, ongoing, and outcomes accountability. This should start with clearer outlining of the roles and responsibilities of the triad—states, nonprofit accreditation agencies, and the federal government. This includes more regular communication and attempts to align efforts that might be overlapping, such as how each party considers finances. It also requires understanding that the triad is not consistent across institutions. For many private colleges, the state role looks different than it does for a public institution. This will help clarify where the federal government may need to step up its upfront work versus what accreditors can do on ongoing monitoring, and so forth.

Next, policymakers should consider where gatekeeping, ongoing monitoring, and outcomes-based accountability currently come up short. For instance, the fact that many problematic colleges morphed out of seemingly successful enterprises suggests a need for more rigorous focus on overseeing proposals to change ownership or to radically alter the educational enterprise. In particular, new ownership should be treated with just as high a bar as initial gatekeeping.

Principle 3: Encourage improvement

There are unquestionably some colleges with such poor outcomes that they should not be in the federal financial aid programs, but there are even more institutions whose outcomes are simply mediocre—not disastrous but not nearly good enough. Accountability needs to encourage a broader set of institutions to improve. If it only focuses on the worst institutions, then the government will expend a great deal of energy tracking down tiny colleges whose status at the bottom is more likely a result of being a small family-run business than intentional bad behavior.

Unfortunately, most current measures of federal accountability operate on a narrow approach that only targets the lowest-performing colleges. This makes some sense the worst performers are, after all, a greater concern than mediocre ones. But this approach undermines the broader effectiveness of an accountability regime by creating substantial cliff effects.

An accountability cliff effect occurs when there are some bright line performance standards but no penalties as long as a school avoids that threshold. Cohort default rates are an excellent example of a cliff effect in federal policy. Institutions with a default rate of 30.1 percent for three years can lose access to federal financial aid. Meanwhile, a school whose default rate is 29.9 percent for the same period of time has to do nothing more than submit a default management plan. As a consequence, a school with a 20 percent default rate—still rather mediocre does not have much incentive to improve at all.

To its credit, financial responsibility scores have some intermediate consequences but a cliff effect as well. Schools that fall below a 1.5 and above a 1.0 face monitoring. If a school falls to a score of 0.9, it must submit a letter of credit. However, the difference in consequences between some monitoring and actually facing financial consequences is a stark jump. (See Text Box on how many institutions come close to failing accountability metrics for a sense of how large cliff effects may be.)

The approach used by most federal accountability measures, therefore, is self-limiting. All an institution has to aspire to is mediocrity—and accountability falls away.

Guidance for policymakers to implement this principle

Policymakers should change accountability systems to ramp up consequences and encourage more institutions to improve. For instance, institutions with mediocre results might be required to develop more generous refund policies for students; the next set of colleges might face financial consequences such as a letter of credit; and the final group would risk losing access to financial aid. The idea is that more institutions have an incentive to improve.

Principle 4: Use flexible, enforceable consequences

Effective accountability requires consequences that are serious enough to push institutions to take action to avoid them. But consequences must also be proportional to the problems observed so that the actor enforcing the rules—in this case the federal government — can actually administer them.

The major federal accountability processes have a range of consequences that is too narrow. For instance, the only major consequences from having a high cohort default or 90/10 rate is loss of federal financial aid. The financial responsibility scores requirement is the only one of these high-profile measures to address the consequences issue. Institutions facing problems under this measure first submit a letter of credit before losing access to financial aid.

While removing access to federal financial aid must be on the table, it is a difficult consequence to use. Given that many institutions would not survive without the revenue from federal aid, this penalty is a de facto nuclear option. As a result, what should be a powerful leverage point is also so overwhelming that wielding it becomes nigh impossible.

Cohort default rate penalties provide an example of how having federal aid loss as the only meaningful penalty available can undermine effectiveness. In 2014, colleges were supposed to start facing a loss of federal financial aid if they had high three-year cohort default rates—the new measure was phased in after the 2008 Higher Education Act reauthorization. However, the Department of Education made technical adjustments to the rates for many schools that would have otherwise failed, allowing them to avoid losing access to aid. 90 The agency preemptively undercut its own accountability measure because it recognized the political infeasibility of letting many colleges lose access to aid.

Even if terminating federal aid is not an option, the threat of potential closure can be a powerful tool for institutions to push back against accountability efforts. For example, one major argument against the use of letters of credit is that they are often assessed on institutions that are already on shaky financial ground. 91 Some schools that already cannot pay their bills argue that adding another financial commitment will simply hasten closure.

The limited range of penalties means that there are substantial missed opportunities for using federal policy to encourage improvement. For instance, the current federal accountability mechanism gives no consideration to what type of changes might

improve a school's results. New leadership, revamping governance structures, redirecting greater spending toward instruction, improving student support services, or increasing proactive advising are reforms that could improve an institution. Surely, some schools do adopt these measures in response to accountability challenges, but nothing forces such behavior.

Guidance for policymakers to implement this principle

Loss of financial aid cannot be the lone accountability consequence. The federal government should make greater use of financial tools, such as delayed financial aid payment, requiring schools to share in the risk when student loans go bad, or letters of credit. Policymakers should also explore nonfinancial consequences. This could include things such as required changes to institutional leadership or board membership or requiring outside support to help an organization run better. Admittedly, these more granular changes may be better-suited to exploration first through accreditors. Where possible, alternative consequences should not rely on the submission or creation of plans, which in federal higher education policy are often make-work exercises that are not particularly effective.

Principle 5: Align consequences with accountability measures

Institutions need to feel like accountability measures can be fairly attributed to the federal funds that are at risk if a school comes up short. If the performance metric and the consequences feel too disconnected, then a measure can lose validity or have weaker incentives for institutions to improve.

The cohort default rates measure provides an example of both effective and unproductive ways to align accountability metrics and consequences. On the effective front, this measure directly puts student loan funds at risk if too many of an institution's borrowers have a poor loan outcome. The theory is clear—if a significant number of students defaults on their debts, then it does not make sense to keep offering loans at that institution. But cohort default rates also put Pell Grants which do not have to be repaid—at risk. This is a connection that can make cohort default rates seem unfair to some schools. At some institutions—particularly community colleges—the number of borrowers is much lower than the number of students who receive grants. In those cases, even if a college improves its default rate, there's no guarantee that the outcomes for grant recipients will improve. It also means that the results for a small set of students puts assistance at risk for a much larger population.

Guidance for policymakers to implement this principle

Policymakers should find a better measure for holding institutions accountable for Pell Grants than the cohort default rate. This could be done through a measure of completion, withdrawal, or something similar. To be clear, the tie between default rates and Pell Grants should not be cut without a replacement. Otherwise, even the minimal accountability that is connected to that program today would be lost.

Principle 6: Provide rewards and consequences

Sanctions and consequences must be a part of any accountability system for federal financial aid. But a system that only has punitive measures risks encouraging behavior that aims only to avoid problems, rather than proactively trying to improve.

Including some kind of reward for good or improved results as part of an accountability system is particularly important for heading off concerns that institutions may avoid serving at-risk students. Accountability regimes should not discourage otherwise high-quality schools from extending opportunities to the individuals that most benefit from postsecondary education and training.

Guidance for policymakers to implement this principle

Accountability systems should also include opportunities for some kind of reward or bonus. This could come in the form of monetary support such as additional funds to help schools that are doing a good job. It could also mean giving institutions priority in formulas for distributing money in the campus-based aid programs, which give additional grant aid to low-income students or provide subsidized employment opportunities.

Principle 7: Differentiate accountability

One strength of the federal financial aid system is the wide variety of institutions that participate in it. These aid programs support everything from a huge research institution preparing the next generation of scientists to small family-run schools that teach students to cut hair. Given this diversity of schools, it would be illogical to hold all of higher education to the exact same set of measures.

For one, colleges' organizational structures vary. A public college typically has additional layers of state oversight to go through and is also backed by the full faith and credit of its state. This provides greater confidence that some part of the state government has assessed the quality of its programs and that it is not at risk for sudden closure the way a private institution might be. Therefore, a public college does not need the same financial monitoring processes as a private institution. Similarly, the fact that a private for-profit college has owners that can pull equity out of a school represents a unique risk that must be addressed.

The risk that an institution presents both to students and taxpayers should also inform accountability. In general, institutions that receive greater amounts of federal financial aid and have larger enrollments should be bigger concerns, because negative results affect a larger number of people. Similarly, it is reasonable to consider past performance problems or red flags in setting up different accountability regimes and requirements.

Accountability need not be a one-size-fits-all system. But that does not exempt institutions from being held accountable for performance on key issues. For instance, all institutions should be judged on student loan outcomes. Similarly, all schools need some sort of financial monitoring.

Guidance for policymakers to implement this principle

Policymakers should review different parts of the accountability system to differentiate by institution type, size, and riskiness. For instance, the operations of a large publicly traded college are different than those of a small owner-operated beauty school. Policymakers should also explore where accountability measures need calculation tweaks to reflect institutional diversity. For instance, the formula for calculating completion rates cannot be a one-size-fits-all measure. Shorter-term programs will always have higher graduation rates than longer-term ones, because there is less time to drop out. Therefore, it is important to have different completion standards based upon length of programs offered.

New accountability suggestions

There are several proposals for new or alternative forms of postsecondary accountability that Congress could address during the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act. Many of these ideas are very promising, but they are also quite complex and require additional thinking before they could be adopted. Below is a brief summary of each of these measures, as well as outstanding questions about these proposals that would need to be addressed.

Earnings

What is it? Earnings are a measure of the amount of money graduates earn after leaving school. Some proposals call for looking at the percentage of graduates who earn above a set threshold, such as \$25,000 annually. Others look at the size of annual student debt payments graduates make as a percentage of income.

Why have some organizations called for it?

Earnings are a popular tool for measuring whether a higher education program produces a sufficient return on investment. While earnings are by no means the only valuable outcome from a college education, they are of high interest to students, especially if they have loans to repay. Judging an institution or a program of education in a way that somehow incorporates student earnings can provide a valuable feedback loop about how much programs cost or the level of debt students take on.

Has this it been used? Gainful employment judges career training programs based upon the annual debt payments of graduates compared to their income.

Repayment rate

What is it? The repayment rate is a measure of whether students make progress paying down their debt.

Why have some organizations called for it?

Repayment rates are often viewed as superior to student loan default rates because they take a more expansive view of what it means to hold institutions accountable

The College Scorecard reported typical earnings data and the percentage of students making above \$25,000 a year for both graduates and dropouts from institutions.

What are the two biggest unanswered questions?

The first question concerns the proper way to measure earnings. All proposals around earnings so far focus on using earnings in context, either by looking at the share of students above some benchmark or the level of earnings compared to the amount of debt borrowed. Within this are some more basic details around how many years after graduation earnings should be measured. The second question pertains to the types of higher education institutions that should be judged by their graduates' earnings. There is general agreement that earnings are a good measure for career-oriented programs but more debate over their use for other options. Whether it should apply to institutions and programs of all types, and exactly how it should be applied, will be a major point of discussion going forward.

for students who struggle with debt. Repayment rates hold institutions accountable for having large numbers of borrowers who never default but who fail to make enough payments to ever make progress retiring their debt. This could be because institutions push too many borrowers to pause their payments using a deferment or forbearance or to make payments based upon their

income that are less than the amount of accumulating interest. Because repayment rates capture these additional student loan struggles, they are also more difficult to manipulate than cohort default rates, making them a stronger accountability measure.

Has it been used? The College Scorecard includes repayment rate for institutions. It defines successful repayment as a borrower who has not defaulted and has repaid at least \$1 of their original principal balance.92

What are the two biggest unanswered questions?

The first question concerns what successful repayment should constitute. This could be defined in multiple

ways: For instance, borrowers could have to repay at least \$1 of what their principal balance, or borrowers could have to pay down enough of their outstanding balance to put them on track to retire their debt in 20 years or less—the point in time at which borrowers can receive forgiveness. It could also be some totally different formula. The second question pertains to the treatment of borrowers who do not cover all their accumulating interest on income-driven repayment plans. These plans are presented as a safety net for borrowers. Treating someone who uses those plans as having a negative outcome even if they are making all required payments could be viewed as unfair.

Risk sharing

What is it? Risk sharing is a requirement for institutions to repay some share of loan volume when student borrowers run into trouble, such as default or nonrepayment.

Why have some organizations called for it?

Risk sharing can reorient the current financial incentives around student loans. Currently, the costs of unpaid student loans are shared between the taxpayers—through debts that are not collected on—and students, who must pay back the loan plus collection costs. Institutions, however, have no substantive stake in this process. As long as they keep their default rate below a certain threshold, they do not have to worry about their school's loan performance. Risk sharing changes that dynamic. Having institutions partially responsible for loans that go unpaid creates an incentive for them to focus more on serving borrowers. Some proponents of risk sharing suggest it could replace other accountability measures.

Has it been used? No. Student loan companies used to be responsible for 3 percent of the balance of each loan that defaulted. But they received other subsidies that distorted potential effects of this risksharing requirement.

What are the two biggest unanswered questions?

The first question deals with the design of the risksharing system. This includes numerous details, such as the measures that should be used to calculate when a school owes payments—default or repayment rates. There are also questions about whether institutions should pay a set share of each loan that goes unpaid, some amount that escalates as problems worsen, or follow some other formula. The second question addresses how schools would respond to a risk-sharing system. Given that it has never been tried before, it is unclear whether schools could afford the payments, if it might result in denying services to underrepresented students that are deemed a greater financial risk, or other unintended consequences. Understanding the response to the measure is important for knowing if risk sharing could accomplish its desired ends.

Conclusion

The federal investment in higher education is an extension of taxpayer trust to the tune of billions of dollars a year. The risks that accompany this investment are born not just by the public, but also by the students who must repay federal loans, as well as devote time that they cannot get back.

Availability of financial aid from the Department of Education is at least a tacit endorsement that the federal government believes a given educational option is safe to pursue. This is a commonly accepted role in other realms where the federal government works to ensure that the food its citizens eat, planes they fly on, and cars they drive all meet minimum standards for safety.

As this paper highlights, similar baseline safety claims cannot be made about the federal financial aid programs. Fortunately, most institutions of higher education want to do the right thing, and most student loan borrowers successfully repay. However, this lack of protections does create openings for unscrupulous institutions, and schools that mean well but still produce poor outcomes are not pushed to do better.

The Education Department, of course, cannot go it alone on accountability. More work on strengthening the triad between the federal government, states, and accreditation agencies must occur. Roles, responsibilities, and expectations should be better defined.

But improving federal accountability cannot pause while the triad is reworked. It has been nearly 10 years since Congress examined accountability standards and even longer since most accountability measures were conceived. With Congress currently discussing the Higher Education Act, the opportunity exists now to examine the accountability regime. As this report showed, federal policymakers need to do a better job holding colleges accountable for what really matters through a mixture of gatekeeping, monitoring, and outcomes-based measures that mutually reinforce one another. It is crucial to encourage improvement—not just closure—and to do so through a flexible mix of consequences. It is time for an accountability refresh.

About the author

Ben Miller is the senior director for Postsecondary Education at the Center for American Progress.

Endnotes

- 1 Kelly Field, "House Bill Retains Controversial Default-Rate Plan but Adds Safeguards," The Chronicle of Higher Education, February 6, 2008, available at http://www. chronicle.com/article/House-Bill-Retains/474.
- 2 Doug Lederman, "Higher Ed Act Gets Hairier," Inside Higher Ed, February 6, 2008, available at https://www. insidehighered.com/news/2008/02/06/hea; Doug Lederman, "7 Years, 1,158 Pages ... and Almost Done," Inside Higher Ed, July 30, 2008, available at https:// www.insidehighered.com/news/2008/07/30/hea.
- 3 Andy Thomason, "Student-Loan Defaults Decline in Latest Data, Education Dept. Says," The Chronicle of Higher Education, September 24, 2014, available at http://www.chronicle.com/blogs/ticker/studentloan-defaults-decline-in-latest-data-education-deptsays/86699.
- Author's analysis of data from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Official Cohort Default Rates for Schools," available at https://www2.ed.gov/offices/OSFAP/defaultmanagement/cdr.html (last accessed September 2017); Thomason, "Student-Loan Defaults Decline in Latest Data, Education Dept. Says."The schools that had high default rates but still have recent cohort default rate data are Ohio State College of Barber Styling, Charleston School of Beauty Culture, Tidewater Tech, Ventura Adult and Continuing Education, LT International Beauty School, Florida Barber Academy, Aviation Institute of Maintenance, Jay's Technical Institute, Memphis Institute of Barbering, Northwest Health Careers (now Northwest Career College), Eclips School of Cosmetology and Barbering, Palladium Technical Academy, and RWM Fiber Optics Inc.
- 5 Field, "House Bill Retains Controversial Default-Rate Plan but Adds Safeguards."
- 6 Kelly Field, "As Default Rates Drop, So Does Confidence in How the Education Dept. Counts Them," The Chronicle of Higher Education, September 25, 2014, available at http://www.chronicle.com/article/ As-Default-Rates-Drop-So-Does/148997/; Jeff Baker, "Adjustment of Calculation of Official Three Year Cohort Default Rates for Institutions Subject to Potential Loss of Eligibility," Office of Federal Student Aid, September 23, 2014, available at https://ifap.ed.gov/eannouncements/092314AdjustmentofCalculationofOfc3YrCDRfor InstitutSubtoPotentialLossofElig.html.
- 7 Josh Mitchell, "More Than 40% of Student Borrowers Aren't Making Payments," The Wall Street Journal, April 7, 2016, available at https://www.wsj.com/articles/ more-than-40-of-student-borrowers-arent-makingpayments-1459971348; The Institute for College Access and Success, "The Missing Middle: Borrowers Who Aren't Either Defaulting or Repaying," September 26, 2016, available at http://ticas.org/tags/cohort-defaultrate-manipulation.
- 8 "Award Year Summary by School Type," U.S. Department of Education, 2017, available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/student/title-iv.
- 9 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Unemployment Rates and Earnings by Educational Attainment, 2016," U.S. Department of Labor, available at https://www.bls.gov/emp/ ep_chart_001.htm (last accessed October 2017).

- 10 Author's analysis of data from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Financial Responsibility Composite Scores," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/composite-scores (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Proprietary School 90/10 Revenue Percentages," available at https:// studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/proprietary (last accessed September 2017); Office of Federal Student Aid, "Official Cohort Default Rates for Schools"; Office of Federal Student Aid, "Title IV Program Volume Reports," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/ about/data-center/student/title-iv (last accessed September 2017).
- 11 Doug Shapiro, Afet Dundar, and Faye Huie, "Completing College: A National View of Student Attainment Rates by Race and Ethnicity—Fall 2010 Cohort" (Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse, 2017), available at https://nscresearchcenter.org/wp-content/ uploads/Signature12-RaceEthnicity.pdf.
- 12 Judith Scott-Clayton and Jing Li, "Black-white disparity in student loan debt more than triples after graduation" (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2016), available at https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2016/10/es_20161020_scott-clayton_evidence_speaks.pdf.
- 13 Amy Taub and others, "The Assets Value of Whiteness" (New York: Demos, 2017), available at http://www. demos.org/sites/default/files/publications/Asset%20 Value%20of%20Whiteness_0.pdf.
- 14 Doug Shapiro and others, "Completing College: A National View of Student Attainment Rates—Fall 2010 Cohort" (Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse, 2016), available at https://nscresearchcenter.org/wpcontent/uploads/SignatureReport12.pdf.
- 15 Executive Office of the President of the United States, Investing in Higher Education: Benefits, Challenges, and the State of Student Debt (Washington: The Obama White House, 2016), available at https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/page/ files/20160718_cea_student_debt.pdf.
- 16 Antoinette Flores, "Hooked on Accreditation: A Historical Perspective" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/reports/2015/12/14/127200/hooked-on-accreditation-ahistorical-perspective/.
- 17 Author's analysis of U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education "Download Accreditation Data Files," available at https://ope.ed.gov/ accreditation/GetDownLoadFile.aspx (last accessed October 2017).
- 18 These figures are for the main campus that participates in the federal financial aid programs. Because some main campuses can grant access to a number of branch campuses, the total number of locations affected by accreditation may be higher. Author's analysis of U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education "Download Accreditation Data Files."

- 19 Andrea Fuller and Douglas Belkin, "The Watchdogs of College Education Rarely Bite," The Wall Street Journal, June 17, 2015, available at https://www.wsj.com/ articles/the-watchdogs-of-college-education-rarelybite-1434594602: Institute of Effective Governance. "Accreditation: A Call to Action for College Trustees" (Washington: American Council for Trustees and Alumni, 2013), available at https://www.goacta.org/ images/download/accreditation_guide.pdf.
- 20 Ben Miller, "Improving Gainful Employment," New America, November 5, 2013, available at https://www. newamerica.org/education-policy/policy-papers/ improving-gainful-employment/.
- 21 Office of Federal Student Aid, School Eligibility and Operations: 2016–2017 (Washington: U.S. Department of Education, 2016), available at https://ifap.ed.gov/ fsahandbook/attachments/1617FSAHbkVol2.pdf.
- 22 Office of Inspector General, Federal Student Aid's Oversight of Schools Participating in the Title IV Programs (Washington: U.S. Department of Education, 2015), available at https://ed.gov/about/offices/list/oig/auditreports/fy2015/a03l0001.pdf.
- 23 Government Accountability Office, "Large Schools and Schools that Specialize in Healthcare Are More Likely to Rely Heavily on Federal Student Aid," GAO-11-4, Report to Congressional Committees, October 2010, available at http://www.gao.gov/assets/320/310897.pdf.
- 24 The New York Times, "Crack Down on Student Aid Abuse," June 21, 1994, available at http://www.nytimes. com/1994/06/21/opinion/crack-down-on-student-aidabuse.html.
- 25 Government Accountability Office, "Large Schools and Schools that Specialize in Healthcare Are More Likely to Rely Heavily on Federal Student Aid."
- 26 Author's analysis of data for the 2014-15 and 2013-14 academic years from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Proprietary School 90/10 Revenue Percentages."
- 27 U.S. Department of Education, "New Analysis Finds Many For-Profits Skirt Federal Funding Limits," Press release, December 21, 2016, available at https://www. ed.gov/news/press-releases/new-analysis-finds-manyprofits-skirt-federal-funding-limits.
- 28 The Institute for College Access and Success, "Q&A on the For-Profit College '90-10 Rule," January 25, 2016, available at http://ticas.org/sites/default/files/ pub_files/90-10_qa_0.pdf.
- 29 Government Accountability Office, "Large Schools and Schools that Specialize in Healthcare Are More Likely to Rely Heavily on Federal Student Aid."
- 30 Cornell Law School Legal Information Institute, "20 U.S. Code § 1099c - Eligibility and certification procedures," available at https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/ text/20/1099c (last accessed September 2017).
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 Trump White House, "OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement 2016, Part 1: Background, Purpose, and Applicability," June 2016, available at https://www. whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/omb/assets/a133_compliance/2016/pt1.pdf.
- 33 Office of Federal Student Aid, "Financial Responsibility Scores Requiring a Letter of Credit," available at https:// studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/school/loc (last accessed October 2017)

- 34 Robert Shireman, Elizabeth Baylor, and Ben Miller, "Looking in All the Wrong Places: How the Monitoring of Colleges Misses What Matters Most" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/reports/2016/04/12/133263/looking-in-all-thewrong-places/.
- 35 Higher Education Amendments of 1992, Public Law 102-325, 102nd Cong., 2d sess. (July 23, 1992), available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/102nd-congress/senatebill/1150.
- 36 Ken Chabotar and others, "Report of the NAICU Financial Responsibility Task Force" (Washington: National Association of Independent Colleges and Universities, 2012), available at https://www.naicu.edu/ docLib/20121119_NAICUFinan.Resp.FinalReport.pdf.
- 37 Kent Chabotar, "Will Your Institution Pass the Financial-Responsibility Test?" Trusteeship, July/August, 2011, available at https://www.agb.org/trusteeship/2011/ julyaugust/will-your-institution-pass-the-financialresponsibility-test.
- 38 Office of Federal Student Aid, School Eligibility and Operations: 2016-2017.
- 39 Author's analysis of Office of Federal Student Aid, "Financial Responsibility Composite Scores."
- 40 Robert Kelchen, "Understanding financial responsibility scores for private colleges," Brookings Institution, March 23, 2016, available at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/ brown-center-chalkboard/2016/03/23/understandingfinancial-responsibility-scores-for-private-colleges/.
- 41 Chabotar and others, "Report of the NAICU Financial Responsibility Task Force."
- 42 Office of Federal Student Aid, "Program Reviews," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/ data-center/school/program-reviews (last accessed September 2017).
- 43 Shireman, Baylor, and Miller, "Looking in All the Work Places."
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 Cornell Law School Legal Information Institute, "34 CFR 668.187 - Consequences of cohort default rates on your ability to participate in Title IV, HEA programs," available at https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/34/668.187 (last accessed September 2017).
- 47 Office of Federal Student Aid, "Official Cohort Default Rates for Schools."
- 48 Author's analysis from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Official Cohort Default Rates for Schools," available at https://web.archive.org/web/20170815214447/https:// www2.ed.gov/offices/OSFAP/defaultmanagement/cdr. html (last accessed September 2017).
- 49 U.S. Department of Education, "Education Department Releases Final Debt-to-Earnings Rates for Gainful Employment Programs," Press release, January 9, 2017, https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/educationdepartment-releases-final-debt-earnings-rates-gainfulemployment-programs.

- 50 Doug Lederman, "Judge Strikes Down 'Gainful," Inside Higher Ed, July 2, 2012, available at https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2012/07/02/us-judge-invalidatesfederal-rule-governing-college-vocational-programs.
- 51 Doug Lederman, "U.S. Continues to Delay, Soften Gainful-Employment Rules," Inside Higher Ed, August 18, 2017, available at https://www.insidehighered.com/ quicktakes/2017/08/18/us-continues-delay-softengainful-employment-rules.
- 52 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, "U.S. Federal Poverty Guidelines Used to Determine Financial Eligibility for Certain Federal Programs," available at https://aspe.hhs.gov/poverty-guidelines (last accessed October 2017).
- 53 Author's analysis of data from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Gainful Employment Information," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/ school/ge (last accessed September 2017).
- 54 Office of Federal Student Aid, "National Student Loan Default Rates," available at https://ifap.ed.gov/eannouncements/attachments/FY2014OfficialCDRBriefing. pdf (last accessed October 2017).
- 55 Erin Dillon and Robin V. Smiles, "Lowering Student Loan Default Rates: What One Consortium of Historically Black Institutions Did to Succeed" (Washington: Education Sector, 2010), available at https://www. issuelab.org/resources/7446/7446.pdf.
- 56 This analysis uses two-year data, because three-year figures were not reliably available during this time period.
- 57 Author's analysis of data from College Scorecard, "Download the Data," available at https://collegescorecard.ed.gov/data/ (last accessed October 2017).
- 59 Office of Congresswoman Nancy Pelosi, "Pelosi, Speier, Eshoo Condemn Continued ACCJC Failure of Leadership in CCSF Matter," Press release, May 27, 2014, available at https://pelosi.house.gov/news/press-releases/ pelosi-speier-eshoo-condemn-continued-accjc-failureof-leadership-in-ccsf-matter; Jake Jarvis, "WV officials want DeVos to revisit higher-ed funding program," Charleston Gazette-Mail, June 15, 2017, available at http://wvpress.org/breaking-news/wv-officials-wantdevos-revisit-higher-ed-funding-program/.
- 60 Kelly Field, "For-Profit Colleges Lobby Against Proposed Change in Calculating Student-Loan Default Rates,"The Chronicle of Higher Education, January 30, 2008, available at http://www.chronicle.com/article/For-Profit-Colleges-Lobby/114479.
- 61 Michael Stratford, "Reprieve on Default Rates," Inside Higher Ed, September 24, 2014, available at https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2014/09/24/ education-dept-tweaks-default-rate-calculation-helpcolleges-avoid-penalties.
- 62 Author's analysis of data from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Financial Responsibility Composite Scores"; Office of Federal Student Aid, "Proprietary School 90/10 Revenue Percentages"; Office of Federal Student Aid, "Official Cohort Default Rates for Schools": Office of Federal Student Aid, "Title IV Program Volume Reports."
- 63 Office of Federal Student Aid, "Title IV Program Volume Reports."

- 64 Government Accountability Office, "Education Should Address Oversight and Communication Gaps in Its Monitoring of the Financial Condition of Schools," GAO-17-555, Report to Congressional Requesters, August 2017, available at https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/686709.pdf.
- 65 Ibid.
- 66 A fall 2016 problem occurs in the fiscal year that runs July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017. The institution has either six or nine months to send the Department of Education its audit covering that time period, meaning the financial data does not reach the agency until somewhere between January 2018 and March 2018.
- 67 Author's analysis of data from Office of Federal Student Aid, "Gainful Employment Information."
- 68 Kevin Carey, "DeVos is Discarding College Policies That New Evidence Shows Are Effective," The New York Times, June 30, 2017, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2017/06/30/upshot/new-evidence-shows-devosis-discarding-college-policies-that-are-effective.html.
- 69 Office of Federal Student Aid, "FY 2011 2-Year National Student Loan Default Rates," available at https://web. archive.org/web/20140705081607/http://ifap.ed.gov/ eannouncements/attachments/2013OfficialFY112YRC DRBriefing.pdf (last accessed September 2017).
- 70 Shapiro, Dundar, and Huie, "Completing College."
- 71 Office of Federal Student Aid, "Portfolio by Loan Status," available at https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/about/datacenter/student/portfolio.
- 72 Office of Federal Student Aid, "Direct Loan Portfolio by Delinquency Status," available at https://studentaid. ed.gov/sa/about/data-center/student/portfolio.
- 73 Ben Miller, "New Federal Data Show a Student Loan Crisis for African American Borrowers," Center for American Progress, October 16, 2017, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/ news/2017/10/16/440711/new-federal-data-showstudent-loan-crisis-african-american-borrowers/.
- 74 David J. Deming and Christopher R. Walters, "The Impact of Price Caps and Spending Cuts on U.S. Postsecondary Attainment" (Boston: Harvard University, University of California, Berkeley, and National Bureau of Economic Research, 2017), available at https:// scholar.harvard.edu/files/ddeming/files/DW_Aug2017.
- 75 Donna M. Desrochers and Steven Hurlburt, "Trends in College Spending: 2003–2013" (Washington: Delta Cost Project, American Institutes for Research, 2016), available at http://www.air.org/system/files/downloads/ report/Delta-Cost-Trends-in-College%20Spending-January-2016.pdf.
- 76 Stephen Burd, "Undermining Pell: Volume III," New America, March 16, 2016, available at https://www. newamerica.org/education-policy/policy-papers/ undermining-pell-volume-iii/.
- 77 To see the names of institutions acquired by Corinthian Colleges, search for Everest College in U.S. Department of Education Office of Postsecondary Education, "The Database of Accredited Postsecondary Institutions and Programs," available at https://ope.ed.gov/accreditation/Index.aspx (last accessed September 2017).

- 78 L.A. Biz, "Corinthian buying Heald Colleges for \$395 Million," October 20, 2009, available at https://www. bizjournals.com/losangeles/stories/2009/10/19/ dailv8.html.
- 79 Ben Miller, "Except for Heald, Everything at Corinthian Should Go," New America, July 3, 2014, available at https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/edcentral/corinthian-sell-heald/.
- 80 Chris Kirkham, "U.S. fines Corinthian Colleges \$30 million over false job placement rates," Los Angeles Times, April 14, 2015, available at http://www.latimes.com/business/ la-fi-corinthian-colleges-fine-20150414-story.html.
- 81 Scott Jaschik, "A For-Profit Buys a Catholic College," Inside Higher Ed, March 2, 2005, available at https://www. insidehighered.com/news/2005/03/02/forprofit3_2.
- 82 Doug Lederman, "Closure Delayed (by a Decade)," Inside Higher Ed, July 15, 2015, available at https:// www.insidehighered.com/news/2015/07/15/ashfordus-closure-and-what-it-says-about-profit-higher-ed.
- 83 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, "Justice Department is investigating whether a for-profit college company violated federal financial aid rules," The Washington Post, July 12, 2016, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/ news/grade-point/wp/2016/07/12/justice-dept-is-investigating-a-for-profit-college-company-for-violatingfederal-financial-aid-rules/?utm_term=.8b8bdce842e8.
- 84 Paul Fain, "Apollo Group Finalizes Sale for \$1.14 Billion," Inside Higher Ed, February 2, 2017, available at https:// www.insidehighered.com/quicktakes/2017/02/02/ apollo-group-finalizes-sale-114-billion.
- 85 Ashley A. Smith, "New Nonprofit Owner for EDMC," Inside Higher Ed, March 6, 2017, available at https:// www.insidehighered.com/news/2017/03/06/ large-profit-chain-edmc-be-bought-dream-centermissionary-group.

- 86 Anya Kamenetz, "A Public University Acquires a Big For-Profit, And Raises Big Questions," NPR, May 4, 2017, available at http://www.npr.org/sections/ ed/2017/05/04/526748160/a-public-universityacquires-a-big-for-profit-and-raises-big-questions.
- 87 Robert Shireman, "The Covert For-Profit: How College Owners Escape Oversight through a Regulatory Blind Spot," The Century Foundation, September 22, 2015, available at https://tcf.org/content/report/ covert-for-profit/.
- 88 U.S. Department of Education, "Education Department Denies Request for Chain of For-Profit Colleges to Convert to Non-Profit Status," Press release, August 11, 2016, available at https://www.ed.gov/news/pressreleases/education-department-denies-request-chainprofit-colleges-convert-non-profit-status.
- 89 Ashlee Kieler, "For-Profit College Operator Sues Feds After Non-Profit Status Rejected," Consumerist, September 27, 2016, available at https://consumerist. com/2016/08/31/for-profit-college-operator-sues-fedsafter-non-profit-status-rejected/.
- 90 Stratford, "Reprieve on Default Rates."
- John Sandman, "The Department of Education May Force More Schools to Post Letters of Credit to Get Federal Aid,"TheStreet, March 22, 2016, available at https://www.thestreet.com/story/13504492/1/thedepartment-of-education-may-force-more-schools-topost-letters-of-credit-to-get-federal-aid.html.
- 92 U.S. Department of Education, "Data Dictionary," available at https://collegescorecard.ed.gov/assets/ $College Score card Data Dictionary. xlsx\ (last\ accessed$ October 2017).

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

